CONTAINS CONFIDENTIAL MATERIALS

III. ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR

The Circuit Court erred and exceeded its legitimate power in setting aside the manner in which the WVSSAC promulgated and applied its rules in holding that its "Non-School Participation Rule" Rule 127-2-10 (the "Non-School Participation Rule") as written and/or applied to the respondent M.D. was arbitrary and capricious and that it was not reasonably related to the WVSSAC's stated purpose.

IV. STATEMENT OF CASE

This appeal asks whether a Circuit Court may substitute its position for the promulgation, interpretation, and application by the West Virginia Secondary School Activities Commission (WVSSAC) and its member school of their rules and regulations. This appeal results from an injunctive matter where the Circuit Court of Ohio County, West Virginia enjoined the WVSSAC from enforcing its "Non-school Participation Rule" Rule 127-2-10 by its Order Granting Plaintiffs' Request for Temporary Restraining Order of October 6, 2020 (See APP-12-APP-14), its Order Granting Preliminary Injunction of October 9, 2020 (See APP37-APP-47), and subsequent Order Granting Plaintiffs' Motion for Summary Judgment, Issuing Permanent Injunction and Dismissing the Case of April 19, 2022 (See APP-473-APP-489).

The Circuit Court of Ohio County determined the rule which prevented M.D., the daughter of respondents, David D. and Elizabeth D., Parents and Legal Guardians, from playing for her high school soccer team and a travel/club team at the same time during the high school soccer season was arbitrary and capricious and not rationally related to the WVSSAC's stated purpose. The WVSSAC seeks to have the decision of the Circuit Court of Ohio County

reversed and the permanent injunction dissolved allowing it to enforce the said rule as originally determined.

A. Statement of Facts

Respondent M.D. was and is a student enrolled at Wheeling Park High School in Wheeling, West Virginia and has been a member of the Wheeling Park High School Girls Soccer Team. Wheeling Park High School is a public secondary school located in Ohio County, West Virginia and is, therefore, under the control of the Ohio County Board of Education. The Ohio County Board of Education, pursuant to W. Va. Code § 18-2-25, delegated the control over all interscholastic events at the secondary schools located in Ohio County to the WVSSAC.

Respondents' daughter also sought to play for her travel club soccer team during the fall season while she was also a member and playing for the Wheeling Park High School Girls Soccer Team. Such dual participation was in violation of the WVSSAC Non-school Participation Rule, which was considered and passed by a majority vote of the member schools Board of Control of the WVSSAC. Said rule was implemented after completing the required notice and comment period, and then subsequently filed in the State Code of Rules with final approval by the West Virginia State Board of Education. Pursuant to the Non-School Participation Rule:

10.1. During the academic year and while a member of a school team, a student shall neither participate, which includes, but is not limited to, fund-raising activities, team picture, tryouts, etc., on any formally organized non-school team in the same sport, nor shall the student compete as an individual unattached in non-school formally organized competition in the same sport. The following sports are exempted from the provisions of this rule: cross country, golf, swimming, tennis, track, and wrestling, provided that:

*

¹ The county board of education may delegate control, supervision and regulation of interscholastic athletic events and band activities to the West Virginia Secondary School Activities Commission.

- 10.1.a. participation is approved by the student's principal; and
- 10.1.b. the student misses no school-sponsored athletic contest involving a team in that sport.
- 10.2. A student may participate as a member of a national team (and the actual, direct tryouts thereof) which is defined as:
 - 10.2.a. one selected by the national governing body of the sport:
 - 10.2.b. while representing the National Federation in an International Schoolsport Federation;
 - 10.2.c. as a representative of the United States in recognized national or international events; or
 - 10.2.d. a qualifier for the West Virginia Golf Association's Amateur Championship or the United States Golf Association's United States Amateur Championship.
- 10.3. A student who has participated on a non-school team or as an individual unattached in nonschool formally organized competition after the beginning practice date of that sport will be ineligible for participation on that school team for that season in that particular sport except as provided by §127-2-10.1 and §127-2-10.2.

(Emphasis added) W. Va. C.S.R. § 127-2-10.

M.D. began participating on the Wheeling Park High School Girls Soccer Team when she entered the 9th grade at Wheeling Park High School, in the fall of 2020. M.D., at the time of the commencement of the action below, was also member of a club soccer team called "Century United" in Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania. Century United is a non-school formally organized competition team. Therefore, pursuant to WVSSAC rules as promulgated by the member schools, M.D. would not be permitted to participate in both her school soccer team and her club soccer team during the high school soccer season of 2020, and in the future.²

² The season is defined as "starting practice date through state tournament or end of season" W. Va. C.S.R. § 127-2-11.3. Pursuant to the WVSSAC Rule and Regulation Handbook, for girls and boys soccer, "[o]rganized team

In the fall of 2020, the respondents were aware that M.D.'s participation in a non-school team would be found to be in violation of the Non-School Participation Rule if she participated on the Century United team while also participating at the same time on the Wheeling Park High School Girls Soccer Team and an administrative appeal was initiated to said rule.

Therefore, on or about September 9, 2020, respondent David D. filed an appeal to the Board of Directors on behalf of M.D., requesting a waiver of the Non-School Participation Rule.

B. Procedural History

The respondents, being informed by an October 2, 2020 decision letter of a waiver denial of the Board of Directors from a September 16, 2020 hearing and of an additional administrative remedy in the form of a hearing before the Board of Review, ignored the available remedy of appeal to the Board of Review and filed "Plaintiff's [sic.] Verified Application for Injunction" with the Circuit Court of Ohio County, West Virginia on September 29, 2020 (See APP-1 -APP-5) and, subsequently, "Plaintiffs' Request for Temporary Restraining Order" on October 5, 2020. (See APP-6 - APP-11). The next day, October 6, 2020, the Court entered "Order Granting Plaintiffs' Request for Temporary Restraining Order." (See APP-12 -APP-14).

In response to said order, the WVSSAC, by and through former counsel, William R. Wooton, filed its "Motion to Dissolve Temporary Restraining Order" on October 7, 2020. (See APP-15 - APP-18). Later that same day, October 7, 2020, plaintiffs filed "Plaintiffs' Brief in Opposition to Motion to Dissolve Temporary Restraining Order." (See APP-19 APP-22). On

practice will begin on Monday of Week 5 and the first contest may be played on Friday of Week 7." W. Va. C.S.R. § 127-3-25.2. "Soccer (Boys and Girls)"

October 8, 2022, the WVSSAC filed its "Defendant WVSSAC's Reply to Plaintiffs' Brief in Opposition to Motion to Dissolve Temporary Restraining Order." (See APP-23 – APP-29).

The following day, October 9, 2020, a hearing regarding the preliminary injunction was held in Ohio County, West Virginia. (See APP-48 - APP-118). The respondents appeared in person and by counsel, Jeffrey A. Grove, and the petitioner, WVSSAC, appeared in person, by and through its Executive Director, Bernie Dolan, and through counsel, William Wooton. Later that same day on October 9, 2020, the Court, entered an "Order Granting Preliminary Injunction." (See APP-37 - APP-47).

Subsequent to the October 9, 2020, ruling of the Circuit Court of Ohio County, West Virginia, by agreement an Order Staying Civil Action and Modify Scheduling Order Deadlines If Necessary was entered by the Circuit Court of Ohio County, West Virginia on March 3, 2021 (See APP-205 – APP- 208) to allow consideration of a member school proposed an amendment to the Non-School Participation Rule be considered at the annual Board of Control meeting, which was to be held on March 30, 2021. The rule change proposal addressed the issue before this Court regarding non-school participation with proposed amending the language as follows:

Students while participating on a high school sports team are permitted to participate on a non-school sports team. A student's in-season high school participation on a non-school team must meet the following criteria:

- The student's non-school team participation may not conflict with the high school team practice and/or contest schedules. The contest schedule indicates regular season and post-season events.
- A student who elects to participate on a non-school team and does not participate in their high school sport practices and/or contests will be ineligible for high school post-season competitions.
- 3. The post-season includes Section/Region/State competitions.

This proposed amendment was submitted to all the member schools for review and consideration prior to the annual meeting on March 30, 2021. The proposed rule was then presented at the Board of Control meeting where discussion was held and prepared for vote by all the members on the next day. The vote resulted in 103 of the 124 members of the Board of Control that were present, voting against the proposal. Therefore, the proposed amendment failed. The vote, while overwhelmingly against modification of the rule at issue, was consistent with half of similar rules within the other states.

Following the failure of the amendment to the rule, respondents filed Plaintiffs' Motion for Summary Judgment Against Defendant West Virginia Secondary School Activities Commission (see APP-214 – APP-254) to which the petitioners responded with Defendant's Response to Plaintiffs' Motion for Summary Judgment. (See APP-258 – APP-277). The respondents filed Plaintiffs' Reply Memorandum of Law to Defendant WVSSAC's Response to Plaintiff's Motion for Summary Judgment and proposed Order Granting Plaintiffs' Motion for Summary Judgment. (See APP-291 – APP-303).

Subsequently, the Circuit Court entered an Order Deferring Motion for Summary Judgment and Order Setting Bench Trial. (See APP-304 – APP-305 and APP-306).

Depositions of David D., Elizabeth D., and M.D. then occurred. (See APP-393 – APP-442, APP-316 – APP-351, and APP-352 – APP-392).

Following the filing of Defendant West Virginia Secondary School Activities

Commission's Supplemental Response to Plaintiffs' Motion for Summary Judgment Against

Defendant West Virginia Secondary School Activities Commission on March 14, 2022 (see

APP-443 – APP-616), respondents filed Plaintiff's Supplemental Reply Memorandum of Law to

Defendant WVSSAC's Supplemental Response to Plaintiff's Motion for Summary Judgment.

(See APP-617 – APP-620). The Circuit Court of Ohio County then entered its Order Granting Plaintiffs' Motion for Summary Judgement, Issuing Permanent Injunction and Dismissing the Case (See APP-626 – APP-643) to which this appeal followed.

V. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Circuit Court erred and exceeded its legitimate power in setting aside the manner in which the WVSSAC promulgated and applied its rules in holding that its "Non-School Participation Rule" Rule 127-2-10 (the "Non-School Participation Rule") as written and/or applied to the respondent M.D. was arbitrary and capricious and that it was not reasonably related to the WVSSAC's stated purpose.

In so holding, the Circuit Court failed to follow the authority of longstanding W. Va. Code § 18-2-25, the promulgated WVSSAC Rules and Regulations, and prior holdings of this Court which allowed the WVSSAC to determine eligibility of member school student athletes and conduct its business without Court interference.

Despite the clear and promulgated applicable regulation, a decision by the Board of Directors of the Member Schools of the WVSSAC and a subsequent review and vote by the Member Schools' Board of Control, the Circuit Court of Ohio County concluded and applied its analysis of the subject rule as to M.D. and overruled the existing rules and application prohibiting non-school athletic participation during the same time period at a school sponsored varsity sport.

It is the position of the WVSSAC that the Board of Control has spoken not only by its initial promulgation of the rule which prohibited member schools thought its student athletes such as M.D. from competing on both a school sponsored team and a non-school team at

the same time but also by rejecting an amendment to change its rule similar to what the Circuit Court of Ohio County did and allow such.

The WVSSAC has been delegated the duty to "control, supervis[e], and regulate" the interscholastic athletic events and band activities of many of the secondary schools in West Virginia. Pursuant to W. Va. Code § 18-2-25, these duties require the WVSSAC to promulgate and enforce the rules, which are proposed and accepted by a majority vote of the representatives of the member schools, for the purposes of carrying out these interscholastic activities between its member schools. Bernie Dolan, in his role as the Executive Director of the WVSSAC, has been given the authority to investigate and make initial decisions regarding application of these rules and regulations. W. Va. Code § 18-2-25 provides that the WVSSAC must also promulgate a review procedure within these rules. If an aggrieved party feels that the decision of the Executive Director is incorrect, then the party may then appeal the Executive Director's decision to the Board of Directors. If the party fails to meet its' burden of proof before the Board of Directors, that party may then appeal to the Review Board.

Pursuant to Rule 56 of the W. Va. R. Civ. P., "[t]he judgment sought shall be rendered forthwith if the pleadings, depositions, answers to interrogatories, and admissions on file, together with the affidavits, if any, show that there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and that the moving party is entitled to a judgment as a matter of law." A motion for summary judgment should be granted only when it is clear that there is no genuine issue of fact to be tried and inquiry concerning the facts is not desirable to clarify the application of the law." *Conley v. Stollings*, 223 W. Va. 762, 764, 679 S.E.2d 594, 596 (2009) (citing Syl. Pt. 3, *Aetna Casualty & Surety Co. v. Federal Ins. Co. of New York*, 148 W. Va. 160, 133 S.E.2d 770 (1963)).

Summary judgment is only appropriate when the record, when taken as a whole, could not lead a trier of fact to find for the non-moving party. *Painter v. Peavy*, 192 W. Va. 189, 193, 451 S.E.2d. 755, 759 (1994). "Under W. Va. R. Civ. P. 56(c), the facts are to be construed in a light most favorable to the non-moving party." *Travis v. Alcon Lab., Inc.*, 202 W. Va. 369, 372, 504 S.E.2d 419, 422 (1998).

In the instant matter construing the facts in a light most favorable to the WVSSAC, summary judgment without a bench trial and an opportunity to produce evidence by the WVSSAC was error.

Here, the plaintiffs sought a permanent injunction. However, "[i]njunctive relief, like other equitable or extraordinary relief, is <u>inappropriate</u> when there is an adequate remedy at law." *Hechler v. Casey*, 175 W. Va. 434, 440, 333 S.E.2d 799, 805 (1985). Furthermore, "[u]nder the balance of hardship test the [lower] court must consider, in 'flexible interplay,' the following four factors in determining whether to issue a preliminary injunction: (1) the likelihood of irreparable harm to the plaintiff without the injunction; (2) the likelihood of harm to the defendant with an injunction; (3) the plaintiff's likelihood of success on the merits; and (4) the public interest." *Id.*

VI. STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT AND DECISION

Petitioner requests oral argument pursuant to Rule 20 of the West Virginia Rules of Appellate Procedure. W. Va. R. App. P. 20(2) and (3). The Circuit Court of Ohio County, West Virginia erred when it granted the respondents injunctive relief and Summary Judgment against the petitioner. Furthermore, this matter impacts the general public because the Circuit Court of Ohio County, West Virginia, by enjoining the petitioner from enforcing the WVSSAC

and its member schools administrative rules as to eligibility issues of student athletes at its member schools rules, oversteps it authority.

VII. ARGUMENT

This Court first heard and determined the legitimate powers of the Circuit Courts of West Virginia allow when presented with actions from student/athletes challenging the authority of the WVSSAC and its member schools to promulgate and administer rules for athletic competition among themselves in 1968. "As a general rule courts should not interfere with the internal affairs of school activities commissions or associations." State ex rel. W. Va. Secondary Sch. Activities Comm'n v. Oakley, 152 W. Va. 533, 164 S.E.2d 775 (1968).

In 2011, this Court further stated "[n]othing in the jurisprudence of this Court supports the trial court's foundational premise that courts are permitted to second guess the manner in which the SSAC applies its rules." *State ex rel. W. Va. Secondary Sch. Activities Comm'n v. Webster*, 228 W. Va. 75, 80, 717 S.E.2d 859, 864 (2011).

Earlier, in *Mayo*, this Court noted that "[u]nder the law that has been developed since *Oakley* and *Hamilton*, an SSAC rule is subject to challenge, like all properly promulgated legislative rules, on grounds that it exceeds constitutional or statutory authority and for being arbitrary or capricious." *Mayo v. W. Va. Secondary Sch. Activities Comm'n*, 223 W. Va. at 95 n. 17, 672 S.E.2d at 231 n. 17 (citing *Oakley*, 152 W.Va. 533, 164 S.E.2d 775 and *Hamilton v. W. Va. Secondary Sch. Activities Comm'n*, 182 W. Va. 158, 160, 386 S.E.2d 656, 658 (1989)).

However, this is not to be confused with the mistaken premise relied upon by the Circuit Court of Ohio County, West Virginia, that a trial court may question the manner in which a SSAC rule is applied. This mistake was also made by the Circuit Court of Kanawha County,

West Virginia but was reversed by this Court in *Webster*. This Court explained in its decision in *Webster*, "[c]ritically, the trial court's conclusion—that courts are entitled to examine the SSAC's application of its rules—does not follow from our recognition in *Mayo* of the three grounds for challenging a properly promulgated legislative rule. *Id.* Nothing in the jurisprudence of this Court supports the trial court's foundational premise that courts are permitted to second guess the manner in which the SSAC applies its rules." *Webster*, 228 W. Va. at 80, 717 S.E.2d at 864.

Further, as again later stated by this Court, it is the "general rule" that "courts should not interfere with the internal affairs of school activities commissions or associations." Syl. Pt. 3, State ex rel. W. Va. Secondary Sch. Activities Comm'n v. Hummel, 234 W. Va. 731, 769 S.E.2d 881 (2015) (quoting Syl. Pt. 2, Oakley, 152 W.Va. 533, 164 S.E.2d 775).

Accordingly, this Court has "made clear that if the SSAC does not exceed its constitutional or statutory authority, circuit courts must stay out of the SSAC's internal affairs." Id. at 736, 886.

In the Court's opinion in *Hummel*, the Court noted its previous holdings when it reiterated the fact that "there is no fundamental or constitutional right to participate in nonacademic extracurricular activities in the 'liberty' or 'property' interest sense for purposes of due process analysis." *Id.* Such holding was consistent with a prior holding in 1984, when this Court stated "[b]ecause participation in interscholastic athletics or other nonacademic extracurricular activities does not rise to the level of a constitutionally protected 'property' or 'liberty' interest, the appellant does not meet the threshold requirement under *Clarke, supra*, and therefore is not entitled to any procedural due process protections." *Bailey v. Truby*, 174 W. Va. 8, 21, 321 S.E.2d 302, 315-16 (1984) (citing *Clarke v. W. Va. Bd. of Regents*, 166 W. Va. 702, 709, 279 S.E.2d 169, 175 (1981)). Accordingly, the Circuit Court of Ohio County, West

Virginia exceeded its legitimate authority by substituting its judgment for that of the WVSSAC and its Board of Directors leaving aside there was no appeal by the respondents to the Review Board.

The West Virginia Legislature established that the WVSSAC is to promulgate reasonable rules for carrying out its authority. W. Va. Code § 18-2-25. The WVSSAC rules are promulgated by the proposal of any such rules or amendments thereto by its member schools to address a present issue identified by any member school or schools, to protect a level playing field, and then a subsequent majority vote of such proposals by the representatives of each of its member schools, collectively known as the "Board of Control," during an annual meeting. The rules which pass by a majority vote then complete the normal state rulemaking process and are subject to final approval by the State Board of Education. W. Va. Code § 18-2-25.

Accordingly, the WVSSAC's office does not promulgate such rules, but oversees the interscholastic athletic events and band activities of the member schools who have promulgated the rules and voluntarily agreed to participate under such, investigates violations of the rules, and, when necessary, applies the provisions of such rules in a manner consistent with the purpose of such rules as understood and approved by the member schools when the rules were enacted.

The West Virginia Legislature had established that the WVSSAC rules procedure includes a proper review procedure following a decision by the WVSSAC office and such are codified in W. Va. C.S.R. §§ 127-6-1 through 6-6.14. The WVSSAC rules and regulations grant authority to an individual school to first interpret the rules and then be referred to the Executive Director, should he "have reason to believe that any member of the WVSSAC has or is violating the rules of the Commission," to "make such investigation as he deems necessary to determine

the innocence or guilt." W. Va. C.S.R. § 127-6-4.1. Then, if an aggrieved party feels that the decision of the Executive Director is incorrect, the party may appeal the Executive Director's decision to the Board of Directors "by filing a verified petition." W. Va. C.S.R. §§ 127-6-5.1-5.4.

"The Board of Directors" is authorized to grant a waiver to certain rules "when it feels the rule fails to accomplish the purpose for which it is intended and when the rule causes extreme and undue hardship upon the student." W. Va. C.S.R. § 127-6-5.7. The Executive Director does not have the authority to grant such a waiver. Once a decision regarding the eligibility of an aggrieved party has been made by the Executive Director, the burden is upon the aggrieved party to file a timely appeal and make a showing that a waiver should be granted in the party's case during a hearing before the Board of Directors.

The Board of Directors by rule consists of "five elected officer-members of the WVSSAC, each of whom shall be a principal of a secondary school in West Virginia" and additional appointed members, including the "State Superintendent or representative designee, a representative from the West Virginia Board of Education (WVBE), a representative selected by the West Virginia School Boards Association, a representative selected by the West Virginia School Administrators Association, and a representative selected by the West Virginia Athletic Directors Association." W. Va. C.S.R. § 127-1-6.1; W. Va. C.S.R. § 127-1-8.1.

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