NO. 22-0390

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA



WEST VIRGINIA SECONDARY SCHOOL ACTIVITIES COMMISSION,

Defendant Below, Petitioner,

DO NOT REMOVE

v.

DAVID D. and ELIZABETH D., Parents and legal guardians of M.D.

Plaintiffs Below, Respondents.

On Appeal from the Circuit Court of Ohio County, West Virginia Presiding Judge Jason A. Cuomo Civil Action No, 2020-C-195

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

David L. Delk, Jr. (#6883) GROVE, HOLMSTRAND & DELK, PLLC 44 ½ 15th Street Wheeling, WV 26003 Tel. (304) 905-1961 Fax. (304) 905-8628 Counsel for Respondents

(1)

(2) TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

Cases

Bailey v. Truby, 174 W.Va. 8, 321 S.E.2d 302 (1984)
Baisden v. W. Va. Secondary Schs. Activities Comm'n, 211 W.Va. 725, 568 S.E.2d 32 (2002)
Janasiewicz v. Board of Educ. Of Kanawha County, 171 W.Va. 423, 299 S.E.2d 34, (1982) 8
Mayo v. W. Va. Secondary Schs. Activities Comm'n, 223 W.Va. 88, 672 S.E.2d 224 (2008)
Monsanto Co. v. Geertson Seed Farms, 561 U.S. 139, 156-57 (2010)
Rules
West Virginia Rule of Appellate Procedure 20
WVSSAC Rule 127-2-10

(3) ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

Petitioner asserts as its single assignment of error that the Circuit Court erred in granting summary judgment to the respondents, finding that the WVSSAC's Rule 127-2-10 ("Non-School Participation Rule") was arbitrary and capricious, and granting a permanent injunction to the respondents.

(4) STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Petitioner WVSSAC in this appeal seeks to reverse the Circuit Court's granting of summary judgment in favor of the respondents. The respondents sough to enjoin the petitioner from enforcing its Non-School Participation Rule against their daughter, M.D., because the rule was arbitrary and capricious in light of the exceptions provided to other athletes and sports but not soccer. The order at issue is the Circuit Court's Order Granting Plaintiff's Motion for Summary Judgments, issuing Permanent Injunction and Dismissing the Case of April 19, 2022 (APP-473-APP-489).

The basic facts of this case can be gleaned from the Plaintiff's Verified Application for Injunction (APP-1 - APP-5). M.D. attends Wheeling Park Iligh School in Ohio County, West Virginia where she is currently a junior. M.D. is a member of the school's girls soccer team. M.D. also plays club soccer in Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania for the Century United soccer club. M.D.'s Century United team plays some of its games during the West Virginia girls high school season. The Century United team competes in the Mid-American Conference of the Girls Academy League with teams from Missouri, Ohio, Pennsylvania, Indiana, Illinois, Wisconsin and Minnesota. The Girls Academy League is the highest level of competition in the United States for girls club soccer.¹

also has been named as a first team All-State soccer player by the West Virginia

The WVSSAC has adopted a rule entitled 127-2-10 "Non-school Participation" which provides, in full:

§127-2-10. Non-school Participation.

10.1. During the academic year and while a member of a school team, a student shall neither participate, which includes, but is not limited to, fund-raising activities, team picture, tryouts, etc., on any formally organized non-school team in the same sport, nor shall the student compete as an individual unattached in non-school formally organized competition in the same sport. The following sports are exempted from the provisions of this rule: cross country, golf, swimming, tennis, track, and wrestling, provided that:

10.1.a. participation is approved by the student's principal; and 10.1.b. the student misses no school-sponsored athletic contest involving a team in that sport.

Rule 127-2-210 does not permit M.D. to play for her club soccer team during the West Virginia high school season but would provide an automatic exemption to her if she played the sports of cross-country, golf, swimming, tennis, track & field, or wrestling. Rule 127-2-210 does not permit a West Virginia high school athlete to play the same non-exempted sport on a non-school team during the high school season but does permit a West Virginia high school athlete to play a different sport on a non-school team during a non-exempted sport high school season. For example, M.D. could play basketball on a non-school team while she plays soccer on her high school team during the West Virginia girls high school soccer season.

The circuit court issued a preliminary injunction dated October 9, 2020 which permitted M.D. to play for her Century United team during the West Virginia girls high school season.

(App-37 - App-47). M.D. was able to participate in this manner on her Century United team during her freshman and sophomore high school seasons. It was anticipated that this same

High School Soccer Coaches Association after both her Freshman and Sophomore high school seasons and was named the girls soccer player of the year by the West Virginia Sports Writers Association in 2022.

circumstance would exist for her junior and senior seasons, and a permanent injunction was requested.²

At issue in this appeal is what reason or justification does the WVSSAC have for treating soccer players, like M.D., differently from golfers, swimmers, etc. The WVSSAC filed an Answer in this case which attempted to provide some explanation for Rule 127-2-10. (App-30 - App-33). In paragraph 11 of the Answer the WVSSAC wants to differentiate from so-called "team" sports and individual state championship winners. (App-31). The WVSSAC also asserts in its Answer at Affirmative Defense No. 3 that Rule 127-2-10 is meant to prevent injuries to "key players" on "team" sports. (App-32).

As documented in the Circuit Court's Order Granting Preliminary Injunction, the WVSSAC also argued as an explanation for Rule 127-2-10 at the October 9, 2020 hearing that the rule further was written to prevent athletes from "serving two masters." (App-46). In other words, the rule was meant to prevent a West Virginia high school athlete in certain sports from receiving conflicting coaching from a high school coach and a non-school team coach. However, this explanation would not apply to the exempted non-"team" sports nor a student-athlete who hires a private coach not associated with a non-school team.

The justifications for Rule 127-2-10 which the WVSSAC asserted in its Answer and at the October 9, 2020 hearing remain the only "stated purposes" by the WVSSAC in the record for the Non-School Participation Rule.

(5) SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

² M.D.'s Century United team has since changed conference affiliations in the Girls Academy League and there is no overlap between club soccer and high school soccer for M.D.'s junior year.

The Circuit Court of Ohio County properly granted the Respondents' Motion for Summary Judgment and issued a permanent injunction to M.D. It is well settled West Virginia law that a Circuit Court may entertain challenges to a WVSSAC rule on the grounds that the rule is arbitrary or capricious. The Circuit Court correctly determined the Non-School Participation Rule to be arbitrary and capricious because the WVSSAC could offer no rational explanation as to why M.D. could not participate in club soccer during the high school season, but the WVSSAC allowed numerous other athletes in numerous other sports to do what M.D. could not. The WVSSAC also had no rational explanation as to why the Non-School Participation Rule prohibited M.D. from playing non-school soccer during the high school soccer season but could play any other non-school sport or participate in any other non-school activity.

(6) STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT AND DECISION

Respondent requests oral argument pursuant to Rule 20 of the West Virginia Rules of Appellate Procedure. Counsel for the Respondent asserts that this appeal appears to provide an issue of first impression with regard to the Non-School Participation Rule and involves a case of fundamental public importance.

(7) ARGUMENT

Unless an absolute right to injunctive relief is conferred by statute, the power to grant a permanent injunction lies within the sound discretion of the trial court, according to the facts and circumstances of the particular case. Syl. pt. 1, Baisden v. W. Va. Secondary Schs. Activities Comm'n, 211 W.Va. 725, 568 S.E.2d 32 (2002). To convert a preliminary injunction to a permanent injunction a plaintiff must generally show that it will suffer irreparable injury, that remedies available at law are inadequate, that, considering the balance of hardships between the plaintiff and defendant, a remedy in equity is warranted, and that the public interest would not be

disserved by a permanent injunction. *Monsanto Co. v. Geertson Seed Farms*, 561 U.S. 139, 156-57 (2010).

The Respondents in this case asked the circuit court to issue a permanent injunction in favor of M.D. declaring that the WVSSAC exceeded its constitutional or statutory authority in enacting Rule 127-2-10. A circuit court may properly entertain challenges to WVSSAC rules when said rule exceeds constitutional or statutory authority or is arbitrary or capricious. *Mayo v. W. Va. Secondary Schs. Activities Comm'n*, 223 W.Va. 88, 95 n. 17, 672 S.E.2d 224, 231 n. 17 (2008). The respondents' motion for summary judgment only addressed whether Rule 127-2-10 was arbitrary and capricious. Under this standard Rule 127-2-10 need only be rationally related to a legitimate purpose, *Bailey v. Truby*, 174 W.Va. 8, 23, 321 S.E.2d 302, 318 (1984); however, equal protection does require that similarly situated classes, like student athletes competing in different sports, be treated alike unless some rational basis to distinguish the groups. *Janasiewicz v. Board of Educ. Of Kanawha County*, 171 W.Va. 423, 426, 299 S.E.2d 34, 37 (1982).

The Non-School Participation Rule fails on all counts and is clearly arbitrary and capricious. The first explanation offered by the WVSSAC to the rule is that there is a distinction between student-athletes who play on "team" sports and those who compete in so-called individual sports due to the prospect of injuries. However, the exempted sports of cross-country, golf, swimming, tennis, track and wrestling are all team sports in West Virginia, and team championships are awarded in each one. Moreover, each athlete in these exempted sports contributes points to a team competition depending on their performance, so the loss of any player to injury in these exempted sports can be as much or more harmful than an injury to a player in what the WVSSAC calls a "team" sport. Swimming and track also have relays which

require its participants to operate in cooperation as a team like the non-exempted sports.

Likewise, tennis has doubles competitions where the loss of a doubles partner to injury is more devastating than an injury to a teammate in any other sport since the loss of a doubles partner constitutes a loss of fifty percent of the starting lineup. The WVSSAC's distinction between the exempted and non-exempted from an injury perspective is not rationally related to any legitimate purpose.³

Moreover, the WVSSAC seems to limit its injury concerns to "key players." No reason exists why the WVSSAC would discriminate against only "key players" and not seek to promulgate rules designed to minimize injuries to all players on all teams. Likewise, this risk of injury justification loses further credibility when viewed in its application. M.D., for example, under Rule 127-2-10 cannot play high school soccer and club soccer during the high school season but could do high school soccer and non-school mixed martial arts fighting or run a marathon every day if she chose during the high school season, or any other sport but soccer for that matter. Rule 127-2-10 cannot be said to be rationally related to the prevention of injury when only one non-school sport is banned during the season, but every other non-school sport or physical activity is permitted.

The other explanation offered by the WVSSAC for Rule 127-2-10 was that it was written to prevent student-athletes from "serving two masters." The WVSSAC expressed concern at the October 9, 2020 hearing that the WVSSAC had a legitimate concern about exposing student-athletes to potentially two different coaching styles, techniques, etc. during the high school

³ The WVSSAC never addressed the nonsensical provision of 127-2-10 that a student-athlete of a non-exempt sport also could not participate in fund-raising activities or a team picture of a non-school sport. It is unclear how this provision of 127-2-10 fosters injury prevention or runs afoul of serving two masters. This provision is the very definition of arbitrary and capricious.

season. Again, this concern would not appear to apply to the exempted sports for some unknown reason. No explanation is offered by the WVSSAC as to why a school wrestler or track and field athlete, for example, can be exposed to conflicting non-school coaching styles or training regimens or techniques during the high school season but a soccer player cannot.

The simple fact is that the exemptions to Rule 127-2-10 have no rational relationship to a legitimate purpose and makes Rule 127-2-10, as applied to M.D., arbitrary and capricious. The WVSSAC has offered no legitimate explanation as to why the exempted sports permit non-school play, but M.D. cannot engage in non-school soccer. The circuit court's granting of a permanent injunction to M.D. withstands legal scrutiny under any sort of analysis.

The petitioner gets the idea of irreparable harm completely wrong. M.D. without the injunction would forever lose playing opportunities that other exempted athletes under the Non-School Participation Rule would have. M.D. under the rule has to choose high school soccer or non high school soccer, a choice other high school athletes in West Virginia do not have to make. This is irreparable harm.

As to harm to the petitioner, the WVSSAC never presented any evidence of any harm it would experience by the granting of the injunction.

(8) CONCLUSION

For the reasons stated herein this Court should affirm the decision of the lower court granting the Respondent's Motion for Summary Judgment and issuing the permanent injunction.

Dated this 11 day of October, 2022

David L. Delk, Jr. (#6883) GROVE, HOLMSTRAND &

DELK, PLLC 44 ½ 15th Street Wheeling, WV 26003 Tel. (304) 905-1961 Fax. (304) 905-8628 Counsel for Respondents

NO. 22-0390

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA

WEST VIRGINIA SECONDARY SCHOOL ACTIVITIES COMMISSION,

Defendant Below, Petitioner,

v.

DAVID D. and ELIZABETH D., Parents and legal guardians of M.D.

Plaintiffs Below, Respondents.